IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In re D.N., a Person Coming Under the Juvenile Court Law

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

S268437

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

D.N.,

Fresno County Superior Court No. 19CEJ600384

Defendant and Appellant.

Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District, No F080624 Fresno County Superior Court No. 19CEJ600384

Hon. Gary Hoff, Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ELIZABETH CAMPBELL Attorney at Law State Bar No. 166960

PMB 334 3104 O Street Sacramento, CA 95816 (530) 786-4108 campbell166960@gmail.com Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 20, 2019, a juvenile wardship petition (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 602) was filed in Fresno County case number 19CEJ600384, alleging that D.N., a minor, had violated Penal Code section 288.5, subdivision (a), on or about May 5, 2017, through July 16, 2019. (CT 5-7.) D.N. was alleged to have been between twelve and fourteen years old at the time the offense was committed. (CT 5-7.)

Following a contested jurisdictional hearing, the court found the allegation to be true and sustained the petition. (CT 120.)

On December 4, 2019, the court declared D.N. to be a ward of the court and placed him on probation. (CT 122-124, RT 516-17.) After ordering D.N. to remain in a GPS ("global positioning system") program for at least three months, the court authorized the probation department "to offer the minor community service, up to 50 hours of community service, up to a cumulative total of 10 days, to work off any alleged probation violations." (RT 517.) The court added that these sanctions could include up to 30 days on the GPS program. (RT 517.)

On January 10, 2020, D.N. filed timely notice of appeal. (CT 152.) On March 23, 2021, the Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District, issued an opinion in which it struck an order requiring AIDS testing and remanded for further findings on that matter, but otherwise affirmed the dispositional order. (Slip opn., pp. 1-2.) This Court granted D.N.'s petition for review on June 30, 2021.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Due to the narrow issue before this court, the facts may be briefly summarized. D.N.'s cousin testified that when she was six or seven, D.N. had touched her "private" with his hand, both over and under her clothing, on between five and ten occasions. (RT 238-247, 252-253.) On one occasion, D.N. had his cousin touch his "private." (RT 302-303.)

The incidents were alleged to have occurred between May 5, 2017, and July 16, 2019, when D.N. was between twelve and fourteen years old. (CT 5-7.)

ARGUMENT

THE PROBATION CONDITION PERMITTING THE PROBATION OFFICER
TO PUNISH APPELLANT FOR A VIOLATION OF PROBATION WITHOUT A
JUDICIAL FINDING THAT APPELLANT ACTUALLY VIOLATED
PROBATION IS AN UNLAWFUL DELEGATION OF JUDICIAL AUTHORITY
AND VIOLATES THE SEPARATION OF POWERS CLAUSE OF THE
CALIFORNIA CONSTITUTION, AS WELL AS APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO DUE
PROCESS OF LAW

The probation condition in this case not only permits the probation officer to unilaterally find appellant in violation of probation, but to also choose the appropriate sanction for any alleged violation. This Court has granted review in order to determine whether the scope of this delegation of authority violates the separation of powers doctrine and further deprives appellant of due process of law.

The probation condition at issue is invalid on multiple grounds: as an improper delegation of judicial authority in violation of the separation of powers doctrine, and as a deprivation of the due process afforded under the law to a minor who has been declared a ward of the court and placed on probation. Appellant accordingly asks this Court to strike the condition.

While juvenile courts have broad authority to impose probation conditions upon minors who have been declared wards of the court, both the state and federal separation of powers doctrines prohibit a court from delegating the exercise of its discretion to the probation department. (*In re Pedro Q.* (1989) 209 Cal.App.3d 1368, 1372; cf. *United States v. Stephens* (9th Cir. 2005) 424 F.3d 876, 880-881.) Although appellant has been unable to find a definitive holding from this Court regarding the

conditions under which a juvenile court may delegate authority traditionally reserved to the courts to a probation officer, the Courts of Appeal have addressed this and related issues many times over the years. (See, e.g., *In re J.C.* (2019) 33 Cal.App.5th 741, 744-745; *In re Robert M.* (2013) 215 Cal.App.4th 1178, 1185; *In re Victor L.* (2010) 182 Cal.App.4th 902, 917-919; *In re Pedro Q.*, *supra*, 209 Cal.App.3d at p. 1372.) From this body of law a set of standards has evolved for evaluating whether a particular delegation violates the separation of powers doctrine or otherwise infringes upon statutory or constitutional protections.

The Courts of Appeal have generally held that a court may only delegate authority to a nonjudicial entity such as a probation officer where certain conditions are met. First, the delegation must be incidental or subsidiary to a function or power otherwise properly exercised by the court. (*In re Danielle W.* (1989) 207 Cal.App.3d 1227, 1235.) Second, the court must retain ultimate control over the exercise of the delegated function through judicial review. (*Ibid.*) An example of a situation where delegation has been endorsed by the reviewing courts is where a juvenile court imposes specific conditions of probation but leaves it to the probation department to supervise the time, place, and manner of compliance with the conditions. (See, e.g., *In re Victor L., supra,* 182 Cal.App.4th at p. 919.)

Here, by contrast, the juvenile court delegated to the probation officer not simply the specific details of a particular probation condition, but rather the authority to determine whether conditions of probation had been violated, as well as the authority to impose sanctions for such violations without the necessity of a court hearing or due process. This delegation is of a different character and degree than that generally endorsed by the Courts of Appeal.

In sum, the probation condition empowering the probation department to adjudicate and punish probation violations is unlawful and must be vacated. As will be discussed further, the order violates the separation of powers clause of the California Constitution and constitutes a violation of due process under the federal and state constitutions.

A. Procedural History

During the disposition hearing, the court set multiple conditions of probation, including an order that D.N. remain on a GPS program for "at least" three months. (RT 517; see also RT 519.) The court then ordered:

[T]he Court is authorizing the Probation Department [to] offer the minor community service, up to 50 hours of community service, up to a cumulative total of 10 days, to work off any alleged probation violations. That can also include the GPS system as a sanction, but he'd already be on that program.

(RT 517.)

The court went on:

I would anticipate if there's any significant violation of any term and condition of the grant of probation here, that he would be brought back to court for additional recommendations, which most likely would include substantial amount of time in custody.

(RT 517.)

Defense counsel did not object to the condition. (RT 515-523.)

In the Court of Appeal, appellant argued that the delegation of authority to the probation officer to (a) determine whether he had violated the terms of probation and (b) impose punishment for any such violations violated the separation of powers doctrine and deprived him of his liberty without due process. (See Appellant's Opening Brief, pp. 17-20.) The Court of Appeal nonetheless upheld the challenged delegation, finding that the discretion afforded to the probation officer was limited and that ultimate authority remained with the court because appellant was able to seek judicial review. (Slip opn., pp. 7-8.)

B. Standard of Review

The question of whether the juvenile court improperly delegated its authority is a constitutional challenge to a probation condition and presents a pure question of law. It is reviewed de novo on appeal. (See *People v. Pirali* (2013) 217 Cal.App.4th 1341, 1345; *In re Shaun R.* (2010) 188 Cal.App.4th 1129, 1143; *In re Rebecca S.* (2010) 181 Cal.App.4th 1310, 1314.) As the Court of Appeal below correctly found (slip opn., pp. 6-7), an appellate court "may review the constitutionality of a probation condition, even when it has not been challenged in the trial court, if the question can be resolved as a matter of law without reference to the sentencing record." (*People v. Pirali, supra,* 217 Cal.App.4th at p. 1345, citing *In re Sheena K.* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 875, 888–889.)

C. California Law Vests the Authority to
Determine Whether a Probation Violation
Has Occurred in the Court; This Authority
Cannot be Delegated to the Probation
Officer.

Article III, section 3, of the California Constitution delineates the rights and responsibilities of the three branches of state government: "The powers of state government are legislative, executive, and judicial. Persons charged with the exercise of one power may not exercise either of the others except as permitted by this Constitution." (Cal. Const., Art. III, § 3.) The effect of this doctrine is to limit the authority of any one of the three branches of government to claim for itself the core functions of another branch. (In re Rosenkrantz (2002) 29 Cal.4th 616, 662.) This constitutional provision protects "any one branch against the overreaching of any other branch. [Citations.]" (In re Rosenkrantz, supra, 29 Cal.4th at p. 662, internal quotation marks omitted; see also In re Ilasa (2016) 3 Cal.App.5th 489, 498.)

Judicial power is vested in the courts, whose function it is to declare the law and determine the rights of parties in controversy before the court. (*Marin Water etc. Co. v. Railroad Com.* (1916) 171 Cal. 706, 711-712.) Executive or administrative officers must not exercise or interfere with judicial power. (*In re Danielle W., supra*, 207 Cal.App.3d at p. 1235, fn. omitted; *Boags v. Municipal Court* (1987) 197 Cal.App.3d 65, 67.)

Specific to the context of probation, "the court sets conditions of probation and the probation officer supervises compliance with the conditions." (*People v. Kwizera* (2000) 78

Cal.App.4th 1238, 1240.) "[C]ourts may not delegate the exercise of their discretion to probation officers." (In re Pedro Q., supra, 209 Cal.App.3d at p. 1372.) A limited exception embraced by some appellate courts allows a court to "dictate the basic policy of a condition of probation, leaving specification of details to the probation officer." (In re Victor L., supra, 182 Cal.App.4th at p. 919.) But always, "the severity of the sentence and the placing of defendant on probation rest in the sound discretion of the trial court." (People v. Hernandez (1984) 160 Cal.App.3d 725, 749.)

This division of constitutional responsibility is in line with the federal standard. As the Ninth Circuit has observed, the division of responsibilities between a court and a probation officer is not merely one of practicality; it is rather one "of constitutional dimension, deriving from Article III's grant to the courts of power over 'cases and controversies." (*United States v. Stephens, supra,* 424 F.3d at p. 881, citing *United States v. Pruden* (3rd Cir. 2005) 398 F.3d 241, 250.)

The California Legislature has further defined the specific responsibilities of courts and probation officers. Welfare and Institutions Code section 730 provides that when a minor has been adjudged a ward of the court under Welfare and Institutions Code section 602, the court may make various placements and orders regarding the minor's care, including placing the minor on supervised probation at home. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 730, subd. (a); see also Welf. & Inst. Code, § 727, subd. (a).) These statutes and others describe, in various contexts, the roles of the court and of the probation department.

Section 730, subdivision (b), for instance, provides generally that when a ward "is placed under the supervision of the probation officer or committed to the care, custody, and control of the probation officer, the court may make any and all reasonable orders for the conduct of the ward." That subdivision continues: "The court may impose and require any and all reasonable conditions that it may determine fitting and proper to the end that justice may be done and the reformation and rehabilitation of the ward enhanced." (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 730, subd. (b).)

Other legislative directives, while not necessarily having direct bearing on the case at hand, nonetheless further clarify the relationship between the juvenile courts and probation. For instance, subdivision (b) of Welfare and Institutions Code section 730 further outlines the relationship between the court and probation officer by directing that a ward's earnings be reported to the probation officer so that those earnings may be applied to financial obligations as directed by the court. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 730, subd. (b).) Section 730.8 specifically addresses restitution and community service, requiring reporting to the court to ensure compliance with relevant orders; even where the minor is committed to the Department of the Youth Authority, the court continues to supervise compliance with restitution orders, and the Department has the duty to report to the court. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 730.8.)

Welfare and Institutions Code section 727 notes that it is the responsibility "of the probation agency to determine the appropriate placement for the ward once the court issues a placement order." (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 727, subd. (a)(4).) Further, "[t]he court has no authority to order services unless it has been determined through the administrative process of an agency that has been joined as a party, that the minor [...] is eligible for those services." (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 727, subd. (b)(2).) In other words, the administration of juvenile justice involves all three branches of government, working together in clearly defined roles.

In terms of the specific role of adjudicating probation violations and ensuring due process protections, the law is clear that these roles belong to the judiciary. Both the relevant statutes and the attendant rules of court support the conclusion that only the court may find a minor to be in violation of probation and impose a sanction for that violation. For instance, Welfare and Institutions Code section 777 requires a formal noticed hearing before the court where a party seeks a change in custody or commitment to a more restrictive placement. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 777.) Section 778 also sets out a procedure by which a probation order or other placement may be modified by petition of interested parties. Although section 778 is less specific about the due process requirements than section 777, the statute nonetheless specifies that changes to the probation order are made by *the court*, following notice and a hearing. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 778.)

Similarly, the California Rules of Court outline procedures for modifications to a minor's probation or other placement order, procedures which plainly contemplate that these changes will be made by the court following a noticed hearing. Rule 5.570 requires a verified petition (subd. (a)), with a statement of grounds (subd. (e)), and a hearing unless all parties stipulate otherwise (subd. (f)). A party requesting a modification under Welfare and Institutions Code section 778, subdivision (a), "has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the ward's welfare requires the modification." (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 5.570, subd. (i).) Welfare and Institutions Code sections 776 and 779 provide further procedural safeguards.

Case law has likewise held that determination that a probation violation has occurred may not be left to the probation department. (See, e.g., In re Gabriel T. (2016) 3 Cal.App.5th 952, 960-961.) In Gabriel T., the Fifth District found that a juvenile court erred in imposing a probation condition that permitted the probation officer to impose one-time, thirty-day custodial sanction for a violation of probation, with no requirement for a judicial finding that the minor had violated probation. Although Gabriel T. involved a custodial sanction governed by Welfare and Institutions Code section 777, similar notice and due process provisions are found in section 778, which controls modifications of conditions of probation which do not involve the removal of a minor from the custody of his or her parents or guardians.

A probation officer may seek to impose a non-custodial sanction for a purported violation of probation by petitioning the juvenile court for a modification of probation conditions under section 778. (See *In re Glen J.* (1979) 97 Cal.App.3d 981, 984, 986.) But any such modification must be done via a noticed hearing before the court, as described above and dictated by section 778.

The statutory scheme does not authorize the probation department to impose a change in probation conditions in the absence of judicial oversight and without a finding that the change is in the best interests of the minor.

In the juvenile context, of course, the court has broad discretion in imposing probation conditions for the purpose of rehabilitation, so a lack of statutory authorization for a particular condition is not fatal to the court's ability to impose that condition. (In re Ronny P. (2004) 1117 Cal.App.4th 1204, 1206-1207; but see In re Bernardino S. (1992) 4 Cal.App.4th 613, 623 [court cannot impose condition that effectively expands legislative criteria for that condition].) This broad authority, however, does not alter the fundamental division of labor between the court and the probation department. Most importantly, this broad authority to set conditions of probation does not authorize the court to delegate its fundamental responsibility to determine if those conditions have been fulfilled, and where necessary, to order modifications to the disposition.

Of course, as noted previously, a general rule has emerged among reviewing courts permitting "even the primary function" of any of the three branches of government to be exercised by another branch "so long as (1) the exercise thereof is incidental or subsidiary to a function or power otherwise properly exercised by such department or agency, and (2) the department to which the function so exercised is primary retains some sort of ultimate control over its exercise, as by court review in the case of the exercise of a power judicial in nature." [Citation.]" (*In re Danielle*

W., supra, 207 Cal.App.3d at p. 1236, see also In re Robert A. (1992) 4 Cal.App.4th 174, 186; but see *People v. Cruz* (2011) 197 Cal.App.4th 1306, 1309-1311 [Pen. Code, § 1210.12, giving "sole discretion" to county probation department to determine probationers' eligibility for GPS program, impermissibly interfered with trial court authority to set terms and conditions of probation, and violated the separation of powers clause of the California Constitution].) Particularly in the juvenile justice realm, executive branch entities such as probation or social service departments often bear a "hybrid responsibility" of representing the executive by pursuing the best interest of the child, while also administering the court's orders. (See *In re* Danielle W., supra, 207 Cal.App.3d at p. 1238; see also In re Robert A., supra, 4 Cal.App.4th at p. 188; In re Jennifer G. (1990) 221 Cal.App.3d 752, 758-759; In re Kristin W. (1990) 222 Cal.App.3d 234, 256.)

But the court retains the responsibility of determining the rights of the parties to a controversy, and most importantly, providing due process to the minor. (Cf. Dept. of Soc. Servs. v. Superior Court (1997) 58 Cal.App.4th 721, 738.) In other words, the statutory scheme envisions, and the courts have endorsed, a division of responsibility requiring that the probation officer provides the immediate supervision of the ward, while the court maintains ultimate control not only over the minor's placement, but also over the minor's compliance with the court's orders and the directives of the probation officer. (See Welf. & Inst. Code, §§

777-778.) The determination of whether a probationer has violated the terms of probation is vested only in the court.

D. The Court of Appeal Opinion Erred in Finding That the Probation Condition at Issue Here Was a Permissible Delegation of Authority.

The Court of Appeal here found that the delegation of authority to the probation officer did not run afoul of the separation of powers clause because the juvenile court delegated only "incidental authority regarding possible community service" but "retained ultimate control over this issue." (Slip opn., p. 8.) The appellate court disagreed "that this delegation permitted the probation officer to decide if and when a violation of probation had occurred." (Slip opn., p. 8.) This finding not only misinterprets the juvenile court's order, but also ignores the important distinction between delegations that have been upheld by reviewing courts and the delegation at issue here: this order delegates the authority to the probation officer to determine if the minor has violated probation, and to impose sanctions for alleged violations without a judicial finding or any semblance of due process.

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