No. S268437

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

IN RE D.N., a Person Coming Under the Juvenile Court

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent;

V.

D.N.,

Defendant and Appellant.

Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District, Case No. F080624 Fresno County Superior Court, Case No. 19CEJ600384 The Honorable Gary Hoff, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE JUVENILE COURT'S COMMUNITY SERVICE ORDER BENEFITS THE MINOR BY FUNCTIONING AS A FORM OF DIVERSION FOR ALLEGED PROBATION VIOLATIONS

When a court interprets a probation condition, it gives it "the meaning that would appear to a reasonable, objective reader." (*People v. Olguin* (2008) 45 Cal.4th 375, 382.) Here, a simple, common-sense reading of the words and language of the challenged order puts the minor on notice of what is expected of him: he must abide by all terms and conditions of probation and, if he fails to do so, the probation officer may "offer" him the

"option" to complete a specified amount of community service in lieu of initiating formal proceedings to change his placement under section 777. (See 4RT 517; Supp. CT 7.)

Significantly, the juvenile court's community service condition does not empower the minor's probation officer to create and impose a new condition not expressly authorized by the court. Rather, the juvenile court found that community service hours were a reasonable consequence in the minor's case to ensure the minor's rehabilitation. (See Argument II.B., post.) The court's oral and written orders make clear that a specific amount of community service—up to 50 hours, or a cumulative total of 10 days—are available for the probation officer's implementation, as needed and with the minor's consent, to address insignificant conduct that could also arguably trigger the initiation of formal proceedings to change the disposition order by modifying the minor's placement pursuant to section 777. (4RT 517; Supp. CT 7.)

In this regard, the scheme is similar to the diversion and informal probation arrangements that are allowed under sections 654, 654.2, and 725, subdivision (a), discussed *ante*, which contemplate an informal arrangement between the probation officer and a minor following the commission of a criminal offense. As with those statutory forms of diversion, here D.N. only has to perform community service if he agrees to do so, i.e., only when he and the probation officer come to a mutual agreement that the minor will perform community service for acknowledged minor violations (such as a violation of curfew, a failure to attend school,

or a failure to report to the probation officer). While D.N. now claims that the condition suffers from legal defects, at the time of the disposition hearing he (and his parents and trial counsel) did not object to the court's order, which suggests that they may have seen having an informal resolution immediately available as a beneficial alternative to taking the time and expense of returning to court for minor misconduct. (See 4RT 517.) Indeed, as with diversion in other statutory contexts, such an outcome is restorative and limits the minor's exposure to the juvenile court. And defense counsel may have reasonably wanted this option available to D.N. for precisely these reasons.

Finally, as with other forms of diversion and informal probation, the juvenile court always retains ultimate jurisdiction over the matter. As the court explained at the hearing, D.N. may still be brought back to court for additional recommendations in the event of a "significant violation" of any term or condition of probation. (4RT 517.) Alternatively, the minor also has the

⁹ The juvenile court's order in this case did not explicitly include all of the details found in the analogous diversion statutes, such as the need for consent from the minor's parents or guardian. (See §§ 654, 654.2.) Whether the absence of a particular detail might render a minor's consent invalid in a particular case appears to be beyond the scope of the issue presented here. In any event, parental involvement is at least implicit in the court's order since D.N. was directed to reside in the home of a parent or guardian. And, to the extent there is any ambiguity, respondent would not be opposed to a modification requiring the probation officer to obtain the consent not only from the minor but also from the minor's parents or guardian to an offer of community service.

option of rejecting the probation officer's offer of community service, in which case the probation officer may consider whether the minor's alleged probation violation warrants a section 777 notice, and subsequent hearing in the juvenile court, to modify the original disposition order and seek the minor's placement in a more restrictive environment.

II. ANY DELEGATION WAS PERMISSIBLE BASED ON THE LIMITED NATURE OF THE COURT'S ORDER AND ITS INHERENT DUTY TO PROMOTE THE MINOR'S BEST INTERESTS

A juvenile court has broad discretion to impose reasonable probation conditions that further the minor's reform and rehabilitation. Lower appellate courts have held that a nonjudicial officer may perform quasi-judicial powers to determine facts and exercise discretion without violating the separation of powers doctrine so long as the court provides guidelines for the officer's exercise of discretion in implementing its orders, and the officer's authority is not unlimited or openended.

In this case, the juvenile court reasonably imposed a community service condition but stayed execution of the community service hours pending mutual consent between the probation officer and the minor. To the extent the juvenile court delegated any authority to the probation officer, such delegation is permissible and does not violate the separation of powers doctrine because the probation officer has limited discretion to administer a specific number of community service hours at the option of the minor in particular circumstances.

A. Legal standards regarding imposition of probation conditions

1. The juvenile court has broad discretion to select and impose probation conditions that are consistent with section 730, subdivision (b)

As previously discussed, when a juvenile court grants probation to a ward, "the court may impose 'any and all reasonable conditions that it may determine fitting and proper to the end that justice may be done and the reformation and rehabilitation of the ward enhanced." (*Victor L., supra,* 182 Cal.App.4th at p. 910, quoting § 730, subd. (b).)

The juvenile court has wide discretion to select appropriate probation conditions. (In re Sheena K., supra, 40 Cal.4th at p. 889; see also In re Greg F., supra, 55 Cal.4th at p. 411.) Juvenile probation conditions may be broader than those pertaining to adult probationers "because juveniles are deemed to be more in need of guidance and supervision than adults, and because a minor's constitutional rights are more circumscribed." (In re Antonio R., supra, 78 Cal.App.4th at p. 941; In re Byron B., supra, 119 Cal.App.4th at p. 1016.) The court may "impose a condition of probation that would be unconstitutional or otherwise improper so long as it is tailored to specifically meet the needs of the juvenile." (In re Josh W., supra, 55 Cal.App.4th 1, 5; see also Victor L., supra, 182 Cal.App.4th at p. 910.)

A juvenile court's imposition of a probation condition is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. (*In re Ricardo P.* (2019) 7 Cal.5th 1113, 1118.)

2. The separation of powers doctrine

Article III, section 3 of the California Constitution states: "The powers of state government are legislative, executive, and judicial. Persons charged with the exercise of one power may not exercise either of the others except as permitted by this Constitution." The separation of powers doctrine "limit[s] the authority of one of the three branches of government to arrogate to itself the core functions of another branch." (Steen v. Appellate Division of Superior Court (2014) 59 Cal.4th 1045, 1053.) "Although the doctrine does not prohibit one branch from taking action that might affect another, the doctrine is violated when the actions of one branch defeat or materially impair the inherent functions of another." (Steen, at p. 1053; see also Manduley v. Superior Court (2002) 27 Cal.4th 537, 557 ["[T]he primary purpose of the separation of powers doctrine is to prevent the combination in the hands of a single person or group of the basic or fundamental powers of government"]; In re Danielle W. (1989) 207 Cal.App.3d 1227, 1236 ["Separation of powers does not mean an entire or complete separation of powers or functions, which would be impracticable, if not impossible"].)

As pertinent here, juvenile probation officers occupy a dual role of both a peace officer (§ 283; Pen. Code, § 830.5, subd. (a)) and aid to the juvenile court (§§ 280, 281). "[T]he juvenile probation office is, in effect, an arm of the juvenile court." (*In re Arron* C. (1997) 59 Cal.App.4th 1365, 1371; see also *People v. Ferguson* (2003) 109 Cal.App.4th 367, 375 ["[E]xercise of the probation officer's authority is sometimes more consistent with a

judicial or educational role than a police role"].) A juvenile probation officer is a source of information for the court (see, e.g., § 706 [court shall consider social study of minor prepared by probation officer]) but also monitors the juvenile's compliance with the law (§ 283; Pen. Code, § 830.5, subd. (a)(1)).

For example, a probation officer decides whether to file a notice requesting a change in the minor's placement, custody, or commitment in those instances where the probation officer determines that a minor has violated a condition of probation that does not amount to a crime. (§ 777, subd. (a)(2).) Additionally, a probation officer may exercise significant control over the minor's health, education, and welfare after a juvenile court declares the minor a ward of the court. (See §§ 726-730.)

Neither the People nor D.N. have found any authority by this Court addressing the extent to which a juvenile court may delegate discretion to the probation department in enforcing probation conditions without violating the separation of powers doctrine. However, the doctrine does not appear to be so rigid that any power even mildly judicial in nature can never be exercised by a third party.

"The correct principle deducible from the betterreasoned cases dealing with the separation of powers
seem[s] to be that even the primary function of any of
the three departments may be exercised by any other
governmental department or agency so long as (1) the
exercise thereof is incidental or subsidiary to a function
or power otherwise properly exercised by such
department or agency, and (2) the department to which
the function so exercised is primary retains some sort of
ultimate control over its exercise, as by court review in

the case of the exercise of a power judicial in nature." [Citation.]

(Danielle W., supra, 207 Cal.App.3d. at p. 1236.)

Thus, lower appellate courts have held that a nonjudicial officer "may be authorized to perform 'quasi-judicial' powers to determine facts and exercise discretion" without violating the separation of powers doctrine so long as the court provides guidelines for the officer's exercise of discretion in implementing its orders, and the officer's authority is not unlimited or openended. (Danielle W., supra, 207 Cal.App.3d at p. 1236; see also id. at pp. 1236-1237 [excessive discretion was not vested in a social worker to control visitation]; accord, Victor L., supra, 182 Cal.App.4th at pp. 918-919 [juvenile court does not violate separation of powers doctrine by dictating the basic policy of a probation condition while leaving specification of details to the probation officer]; In re Moriah T. (1994) 23 Cal.App.4th 1367, 1377 [affirming order allowing social worker to administer details of court-ordered visits].) But it is improper for a juvenile court to delegate unlimited authority or discretion to a third party. (See In re James R. (2007) 153 Cal. App. 4th 413, 417, 441-443 [court unlawfully delegated its judicial power over juvenile's family visitation when it effectively delegated all decisions to the private program placement]; In re S.H. (2003) 111 Cal.App.4th 310, 318-319 [juvenile court improperly delegates its judicial authority where it "abdicates its discretion . . . and permits a third party . . . to determine whether any visitation will occur"].)

Judicial delegations tend to be well received when they are made to entities that are statutorily bound to act as arms of the court, such as probation officers or social workers, so long as the court's order does not grant unlimited authority or discretion. (See Victor L., supra, 182 Cal.App.4th at p. 919; James R., supra, 153 Cal.App.4th at p. 440; Moriah T., supra, 23 Cal.App.4th at p. 1373; Danielle W., supra, 207 Cal.App.3d at pp. 1234, 1237; see also Gov. Code, § 27771, subd. (a)(1) [chief probation officer is bound to "discharge the obligations imposed on the office by law or by order of the superior court," including "[c]ommunity supervision of offenders subject to the jurisdiction of the juvenile court pursuant to section 602"].) Such delegations significantly aid judicial function because courts typically are not well positioned to manage the minutiae of their orders and cannot exercise day-to-day supervision over their wards. (See Victor L., at pp. 917-919; Moriah T., at pp. 1373-1377; Danielle W., at pp. 1234-1235, 1237; see also *People v. Penoli* (1996) 46 Cal.App.4th 298, 308.)

Thus, a probation officer may be given "wide discretion to enforce court-ordered conditions" but may not impose conditions not expressly authorized by the court. (In re Pedro Q. (1989) 209 Cal.App.3d 1368, 1371-1373; accord, People v. O'Neil (2008) 165 Cal.App.4th 1351, 1358.) Nor can a court's delegation of authority "be entirely open ended. It is for the court to determine the nature of the prohibition placed on a defendant as a condition of probation," and the probation officer cannot wield unfettered policymaking authority. (O'Neil, at p. 1359.) The juvenile court must likewise ensure that conditions are tailored to the needs of the minor. (Pedro Q., at p. 1372.)

On appeal, the court reviews de novo whether the juvenile court's order amounts to an unlawful delegation of its authority in violation of the separation of powers doctrine. (*In re Rebecca S.* (2010) 181 Cal.App.4th 1310, 1313-1314.).

B. The juvenile court's order is tailored to the minor's needs and rehabilitation

As a threshold matter, the juvenile court's imposition of community service hours as a condition of probation is reasonably tailored to the minor's specific circumstances, given that he committed a serious criminal offense and his school records showed "an extensive history of intervention for disciplinary reasons related to disrespectful behavior." (CT 132; see *People v. Kwizera* (2000) 78 Cal.App.4th 1238, 1240-1241 [upholding a condition requiring probationer to "follow such course of conduct as the probation officer prescribes" as "reasonable and necessary to enable the department to supervise compliance with the specific conditions of probation"].)

Additionally, the probation officer noted that the minor had exhibited negative behavior in settings outside his home. (CT 133.) This conduct included the circumstances of the current offense, in which he induced the victim to commit sexual acts on several occasions at her home, as well as his failure to observe rules regarding communication with others during his post-arrest detention period. (CT 133.) The probation officer also expressed concern about whether the minor had an "ability to recognize and modify his behavior, even in the process of facing punitive action for an adjudicated offense" as well as his "ability to accept responsibility for his actions." (CT 133.) Given these concerns,

the juvenile court's community service condition was reasonable and tailored to the minor's needs and rehabilitation under section 730, subdivision (b).

- C. The juvenile court's order comports with the separation of powers doctrine
 - 1. The juvenile court imposed a community service condition but left the probation officer with limited discretion to implement the condition

A juvenile court may delegate to the probation officer the authority to supervise a minor's behavior, including the authority to discharge the obligations imposed by the court's probation order to further the minor's rehabilitation. (*Victor L., supra*, 182 Cal.App.4th at pp. 918-919.) "Because the probation . . . officer's function is not so much to compel conformance to a strict code of behavior as to supervise a course of rehabilitation, [the officer] has been entrusted traditionally with broad discretion to judge the progress of rehabilitation in individual cases," and to recommend revocation of probation when appropriate. (*Cabell v. Chavez-Salido* (1982) 454 U.S. 432, 446-447.)

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